
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

 
Civil Action No. ____________ 
 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, 
 
   Plaintiff,  
 
v.  
 
ROBERT RAY WHITE SAMPLES,  
and POT O’ GOLD FINANCIAL SERVICES, LLC, 
 

Defendants,  
 
and 
 
CRISTELLA SAMPLES, 

 
Relief Defendant. 

 
 

COMPLAINT 
 

 
 
 Plaintiff, United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) states and alleges 

as follows against Defendants. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. The SEC brings this civil enforcement action seeking a permanent injunction, 

disgorgement plus prejudgment interest, and civil penalties for violations of Sections 5(a), 5(c) 

and 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a), 77e(c), 77q]; 

Sections 10(b) and 15(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. 

§§78j(b) and 78o(a)] and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act [17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5]; Sections 

206(1) and (2) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (“Advisers Act”) [15 U.S.C.§80b-6(1) 
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and (2)]; and Section 7(a) of the Investment Company Act of 1940 (“Investment Company Act”) 

[15 U.S.C. §80a-7]. 

2. The Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Section 22(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. 

§77v(a)]; Sections 21(d) and (e) and 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u (d) and (e) and 

78aa]; Section 214 of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. §80b-13]; and Sections 42 and 43 of the 

Investment Company Act [15 U.S.C. §80a-41 and 42].  Venue is proper in this district because 

the Defendants reside in the district of Colorado and the violations occurred in this district. 

SUMMARY OF THE CASE 

3. This matter involves the misappropriation of investor funds by Robert Ray White 

Samples (“Samples”) of Parker, Colorado, through two fraudulent investment schemes.  From at 

least September 2002 through September 2006, Samples, operating through his company, Pot O’ 

Gold Financial Services, LLC (“POG”), used material misrepresentations to raise at least 

$1,033,597 from 31 investors in two pooled investments.  The funds invested in the two schemes 

were commingled into a single bank account, much of which Samples misappropriated for his 

personal use and for that of relief defendant Cristella Samples.  Samples used the investors’ 

funds, among other things, to purchase land and to construct a new house and to pay for his 

family’s living expenses.   

4. First, Samples offered and sold $968,817 worth of POG’s Private Capital Accounts to the 

public through the company’s website, investment seminars, and newspaper advertisements.  

Samples represented to investors that funds placed in Private Capital Accounts would be pooled 

together and invested primarily in fixed income securities, and secondarily in a loan program 

primarily for automobiles under Samples’ management to generate returns.  Samples further 
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represented to investors that Private Capital Accounts were insured and would generate 

“guaranteed” earnings ranging from 7% to 15% from his investment activities.  These 

representations were false and misleading.  Samples only invested a small portion of investor 

funds as represented, and instead misappropriated funds for his personal use.  Samples had no 

basis for claiming that the funds were insured or for promising guaranteed returns.   

5. Second, Samples sold interests worth $64,780 in POG’s Golden Investment Club 

(“Club”), which, despite its name, did not operate like a typical investment club since investors 

did not collectively decide on investments.  Samples represented to Club investors that he would 

pool their funds together in a brokerage account for investment in securities, which he would 

manage in exchange for an advisory fee.  Instead, Samples simply misappropriated the proceeds 

for his personal use.   

6. Some investors have asked Samples for redemption of their investments.  In response, 

Samples recently told at least two investors that the SEC will not allow Samples to return their 

money, without disclosing to the investors that he does not have the funds to pay them.  

DEFENDANTS 

7. Robert Ray White Samples (“Samples”), age 47, lives in Parker Colorado.  He owns and 

operates Pot O’ Gold Financial Services LLC (“POG”).  From April 2004 through October 26, 

2006, Samples was a registered representative with Quest Capital Strategies, Inc. (“Quest”).  

While with Quest, Samples worked out of his home, which was an unregistered branch location.  

From November 2002 until April 2003, Samples was associated with OppenheimerFunds 

Distributor, Inc., a registered broker-dealer.  Samples currently is not registered as, or associated 

with, a broker-dealer, and is unemployed.  Additionally, Samples is not and has never been 
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registered as an investment adviser with the SEC or any state.  Samples holds a Series 6 and a 

Series 63 license. 

8. POG is a Colorado limited liability company formed on September 4, 2002.  It is wholly 

owned and operated by Samples.  POG is not registered with the SEC as an investment company.  

POG has not filed a Securities Act registration statement.  POG has not made a Regulation D 

filing under the Securities Act claiming an exemption from registration for its offering for 

securities with the SEC or any state, nor has it registered a class of securities under the Exchange 

Act. 

RELIEF DEFENDANT 

9. Cristella Samples (“Mrs. Samples”), age 52, is Samples’ wife.  She is named as a 

defendant so that full relief can be afforded under the securities laws.   Samples used the 

proceeds of his unlawful activities to construct a home that he owns jointly with Mrs. Samples.  

Samples has also used the proceeds of his unlawful activities to pay for living expenses, which 

has unjustly enriched Mrs. Samples. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

Material Misrepresentations Regarding POG’s Private Capital Accounts 

10. Between at least September 2002 and September 2006, Samples raised at least $968,817 

from 18 investors nationwide in “Private Capital Accounts.” 

11. Samples solicited investors in POG’s Private Capital Accounts through POG’s website, 

newspaper advertisements and investment seminars.  In newspaper advertisements and orally, 

Samples invited potential investors to free “investment seminars” at which he offered free meals 
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regarding the Private Capital Accounts.  Samples solicited and obtained investors in several 

states. 

12. Samples represented to investors through POG’s website and a two page prospectus 

(collectively, the “Offering Materials”) that investors’ funds placed in Private Capital Accounts 

would be pooled together and invested under Samples’ management to generate returns.   

13. The Offering Materials stated that the Private Capital Accounts were subject to a two 

percent charge for Samples’ management fees and expenses.   

14. Through the Private Capital Account, investors:  a) invested money; b) in a common 

enterprise; c) with the expectation that profits would be derived from Samples’ efforts or the 

efforts of third parties. 

15. Samples represented to investors that the investments in Private Capital Accounts would 

be invested: a) 60% in bonds and fixed income securities; and b) 40% in debt securities, cash 

equivalents and “overnight loans.” 

16. Samples did not file a registration statement for the POG Private Capital Account 

investments with the SEC or any state securities authority. 

17. Samples represented to investors that the Private Capital Account investments were low-

risk and were “covered by a sophisticated insurance program.” 

18. Samples also represented to investors that the investments in the Private Capital Accounts 

for at least one year would generate “guaranteed” earnings ranging from 7% to 15% from his 

investment activities. 
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19. Samples also led investors to believe that they would earn bonus amounts above the 

guaranteed rates of return if they reinvested their funds in Private Capital Accounts for additional 

years. 

20. These representations were material and false.  Samples did not invest the investors’ 

funds in the Private Capital Accounts as represented.  Initially, Samples deposited investors’ 

funds of $968,817, raised from the offer and sale of Private Capital Accounts, into POG’s only 

bank account for which he was the sole signatory (“Bank Account”).  Samples then transferred 

only 15% (not the represented 60%) of this money to two brokerage accounts held in POG’s 

name for investment in securities.  Of that 15%, Samples invested one-third (1/3 of 15%) in fixed 

income securities.  The remaining two-thirds of the 15% were invested in large-cap growth 

stocks.  These investments generated $1,490.00 in income.  Samples then transferred all but 

$3,891.00 of the 15% back to the Bank Account. 

21. Samples only invested approximately $179,700 or 19% (not the represented 40%) of the 

investors’ funds into POG’s “loan program.” 

22. Samples represented to investors that the POG loan program was a program whereby 

Samples loaned money to individuals with poor credit histories to purchase used cars and that the 

loans were secured by title to the cars.  These statements were material and false.  In fact, 

approximately half of the $179,700 was used to fund unsecured personal loans to third parties. 

23. The remaining investor funds, or the original $968,817, were never invested in securities 

or loans.  Rather, Samples and Mrs. Samples used these funds to pay for personal living 

expenses. 
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24. Samples’ representations that the Private Capital Accounts were covered by a 

“sophisticated insurance program” were material and false.  The only insurance coverage POG 

had was a key-man life insurance contract on Samples which lapsed in 2005. 

25. Samples’ representations that the Private Capital Accounts guaranteed returns for 

investors were baseless and false.  Samples knew that he had not invested the Private Capital 

Account funds in a manner that would provide sufficient income to generate the promised 

returns.   

26. Samples investment activities in total, comprised of trading securities and the loan 

program, generated only approximately $12,750 in income between January 1, 2005 and August 

31, 2006. 

27. Samples prepared false and misleading quarterly account statements and sent them to the 

Private Capital Account holders by use of the mails and interstate commerce.  These statements 

depicted each client’s invested principal plus quarterly interest income ranging from 7% to 15% 

thereon as promised in the Offering Materials.   

28. As of August 31, 2006, the Private Capital Account statements that were sent to the 

investors represented the existence of invested principal plus interest of approximately 

$1,027,362.  This was materially false and misleading because the POG bank account held only 

$48,990 and the brokerage accounts for the Private Capital Accounts held only $3,891 in cash 

and securities.  Samples never sent the investors copies of the Bank Account or brokerage 

account statements. 
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Material Misrepresentations Regarding POG’s Club 

29. Between August 2005 and September 2006, Samples obtained $64,780 from 13 investors 

from several states.  He did this by offering and selling them shares in the Club.   

30. Samples told Club investors that he would pool their money into one brokerage account, 

invest the money, and generate returns.  Samples also told Club investors that he would make 

investment decisions for the Club and that he would take only two percent of their invested 

capital as his investment management fee.   

31. Through the Club, investors:  a) invested money; b) in a common enterprise; c) with the 

expectation of profits solely from the efforts of Samples or a third party.  

32. Samples told investors that for every $50 invested they would receive one share in the 

Club.  Shares were valued at $49 each because Samples deducted one dollar as his two percent 

management fee.  Investors never received any indicia of ownership in the Club.  Investors never 

received the statements from the brokerage firm where the monies were to be invested. 

33. In fact, Samples’ statements to Club investors were false.  Samples did not invest their 

money as represented.  Instead, he put the entire $64,780 into the Bank Account.  Samples then 

transferred only half of that money, or $32,350, to a brokerage account.  Samples engaged in 

minimal trading and lost $1,325 through trading and brokerage fees.  He then transferred 

$30,378 back to the Bank Account and used the funds for his personal expenses. 

34. Samples created and mailed false quarterly account statements to the Club investors.  

These false statements depicted the amounts and dates of investors’ deposits and the number of 

shares owned.   Nothing in the account statements reflected any decline in the value of the Club 
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investments over time.  Samples continued to collect investment money from investors, and the 

statements showed a higher cumulative dollar amount to reflect the additional investments.   

35. As of August 31, 2006, the Club account statements collectively showed that the 

accounts contained approximately 1,322 shares for a total value of $64,780.  At the time, 

however, the Club brokerage account held only $647 in cash and securities. 

Samples Used Investors Monies for His Personal Expenses 

36. From January 1, 2005 through August 31, 2006, Samples misappropriated at least 

$214,836 of the $1,033,597 of investors’ funds for his personal expenses.   

37. Samples spent investor funds of $195,200 toward the land purchase and construction of a 

new home at 10872 East Spring Creek Road, Parker, Colorado 80138 (“New House”).  The New 

House is titled in the name of Samples and Cristella Samples as joint tenants.  The New House is 

currently for sale. 

38. Samples also used investor proceeds to pay at least $49,484 in costs associated with his 

former house, located at 12863 Capitol Creek Street, Parker, Colorado 80134 (“Former House”), 

including mortgage payments, utilities, and repairs.  The Former House is titled in Samples’ 

name.   

39. Samples used $2,911 of investor monies toward two timeshare condominiums, one in 

Kauai, Hawaii and one in Breckenridge, Colorado (collectively “Timeshares”).  Samples owns 

these Timeshares jointly with Mrs. Samples. 

40. Samples used investors’ funds to pay over $46,254 for his family’s daily living expenses.  

Specifically, Samples used investor monies to pay for driving lessons and private school tuition 
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for his child; monthly payments, insurance, and maintenance expenses for personal automobiles; 

and professional dues for Mrs. Samples. 

41. Samples also spent $29,972 of investor funds for business expenses and donated $26,751 

to charities.  One of the charities was formed by Samples himself for the benefit of pet birds he 

maintains at the New House. 

42. Upon information and belief, Samples spent at least another $516,829 of investor funds 

for personal items, but a full accounting will be necessary to determine the exact amount of 

misappropriated investor funds. For example, Samples wrote checks totaling $302,816 to an auto 

dealership yet POG’s auto loan program reflects only approximately $90,000 as the value of 

vehicles on which loans are generating interest and principal payments. 

43. Samples continues to raise money from investors based on misrepresentations.  Since 

September 2006, Samples raised from investors at least another $234,000 and used those funds 

for his personal use.  For example, Samples took $150,000 from a 70 year-old investor and then 

Samples used that money to finish building the New House.    

Mrs. Samples has been Unjustly Enriched with Investor Monies 

44. Investor monies were used to pay construction costs and other expenses on the New 

House, which Mrs. Samples owns jointly with Samples and where they both live.  Mrs. Samples 

was also unjustly enriched when investor monies were use to pay expenses on the Former House, 

where she previously lived.  Mrs. Samples was also unjustly enriched when investor monies 

were used to pay personal expenses incurred by her and for the Timeshares.  Mrs. Samples lived 

in the Former House and was unjustly enriched when investor monies were used to pay expenses 

on the Former House. 

 10

Case 1:07-cv-02081-CMA   Document 1   Filed 10/04/07   USDC Colorado   Page 10 of 16



FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Fraud - - Violations of Securities Act Section 17(a)(1) 

[15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(1)] 
 
45. The SEC incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 44 as if fully set forth 

herein. 

46. Defendants Samples and POG directly and indirectly, with scienter, by use of the means 

or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or by use of the mails, 

employed a device, scheme or artifice to defraud. 

47. Samples and POG violated and unless restrained and enjoined will in the future violate 

Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Fraud – Violations of Securities Act Sections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) 

[15 U.S.C. §§ 77q(a)(2) and (3)] 
 

48. The SEC incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 44 as if fully set forth 

herein. 

49. Defendants Samples and POG by the use of the means or instruments of transportation or 

communication in interstate commerce or by use of the mails, directly or indirectly obtained 

money or property by means of untrue statements of material facts or omissions of material fact 

necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they 

were made, not misleading. 

50. Defendants Samples and POG engaged in transactions, practices or courses of business 

which operated as a fraud or deceit upon the purchaser of securities. 

51. Defendants Samples and POG violated, and unless restrained and enjoined will in the 

future violate Sections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act. 
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THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Fraud – Violations of Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 

[15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b) and 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] 

52. The SEC incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 44 as if fully set forth 

herein. 

53. Defendants Samples and POG, acting with scienter, by use of means or instrumentalities 

of interstate commerce or of the mails, or of any facility of a national securities exchange, used 

or employed, in connection with the purchase or sale of a security, a manipulative or deceptive 

device or contrivance in contravention of the rules and regulations of the SEC; employed 

devices, schemes or artifices to defraud; made untrue statements of material fact or omitted to 

state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances 

under which they were made, not misleading; or engaged in acts, practices or courses of business 

which operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person, in violation Section 10(b) 

and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act. 

54. Samples and POG violated, and unless restrained and enjoined will in the future violate 

Sections 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act. 

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Violations of Section 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act 

[15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and (c)] 
 

55. The SEC incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 44 as if fully set forth 

herein. 

56. Defendants Samples and POG, through means or instruments of transportation or 

communication in interstate commerce or the mails, directly or indirectly sold a security through 

the use or medium of a prospectus for which no registration statement was in effect.  
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57. There were no exemptions from registration and Samples and POG violated Section 5 of 

the Securities Act. 

58. Samples and POG violated, and unless restrained will violate in the future, Sections 5(a) 

and 5(c) of the Securities Act.  

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Violations of Section 15(a)(1) of the Exchange Act 

[15 U.S.C. § 78o(a)(1)] 

59. The SEC incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 44 as if fully set forth 

herein. 

60. Defendant Samples is a natural person and made use of the mails or means or 

instrumentalities of interstate commerce to effect transactions in or to induce or attempt to induce 

the purchase or sale of a security without being registered in accordance with Section 15(b) of 

the Exchange Act. 

61. Samples violated Section 15(a)(1) of the Exchange Act by acting as an unregistered 

broker-dealer in connection with his offer and sale of Private Capital Accounts and Club 

investments.  Samples did not act through a broker-dealer with whom he was associated when he 

sold Private Capital Accounts and Club investments. 

62. As a result, Samples violated, and unless restrained and enjoined will in the future 

violate, Section 15(a)(1) of the Exchange Act. 
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SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Violations of Section 206(1) of the Advisers Act 

[15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(a)] 
 

63. The SEC incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 44 as if fully set forth 

herein. 

64. Samples, an investment adviser, acting with scienter, by use of the mails or means or 

instrumentalities of interstate commerce, directly or indirectly employed a device, scheme or 

artifice to defraud clients and prospective clients.  

65. As a result, Samples, acting with scienter, violated, unless restrained and enjoined will in 

the future violate, Section 206(1) of the Advisers Act. 

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Violations of Section 206(2) of the Advisers Act 

[15 U.S.C. § 80b-6(b)] 
 

66. The SEC incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 44 as if fully set forth 

herein. 

67. Samples, an investment adviser, by use of the mails or means or instrumentalities of 

interstate commerce, directly or indirectly, engaged in transactions, practices, and courses of 

business which operated as a fraud or deceit on clients or prospective clients.  

68. As a result, Samples violated, and unless restrained and enjoined will in the future 

violate, Section 206(2) of the Advisers Act. 
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EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Violations of Section 7(a) of the Investment Company Act 

[15 U.S.C. § 80a-7] 
 

69. The SEC incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 44 as if fully set forth 

herein. 

70. POG directly or indirectly, offered for sale, sold and delivered by the use of the mails or 

means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, securities without being registered under 

Section 8 of the Investment Company Act. 

71. As a result, POG violated, and unless restrained and enjoined will in the future violate, 

Section 7(a) of the Investment Company Act 

NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Equitable Disgorgement Against Relief Defendant Mrs. Samples 

 
72. The SEC incorporates the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 44 as if fully set forth 

herein. 

73. Relief Defendant Mrs. Samples obtained money, property and assets as a result of the 

unlawful violations of the securities laws by Defendants Samples and POG. 

74. Mrs. Samples should be required to disgorge all illegal gains which inured to her benefit 

under the equitable doctrines of disgorgement, unjust enrichment and constructive trust. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the SEC prays for: 

1. an Order finding Defendants Samples and POG have violated the securities laws as 

alleged in the First through Eighth Claims for Relief; 
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2. an Order permanently enjoining Defendant Samples from, directly or indirectly violating 

Sections 5(a), 5(c) and 17(a)(1)-(3) of the Securities Act; Sections 15(a)(1), 10(b) and Rule 10b-

5 of the Exchange Act; and Section 206(1) and (2) of the Advisers Act;  

3. an Order permanently enjoining Defendant POG from, directly or indirectly violating 

Sections 5(a), 5(c) and 17(a)(1)-(3) of the Securities Act; Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the 

Exchange Act; and Section 7(a) of the Investment Company Act; 

4. an Order compelling disgorgement plus prejudgment interest of all monies taken from the 

investors; 

5. an Order assessing civil penalties pursuant to Section 20 of the Securities Act,  Section 

21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act, Section 209(e) of the Advisers Act, and Section 42(e) of the 

Investment Company Act; 

6. an Order awarding disgorgement, plus prejudgment interest thereon, and civil penalties; 

7. such further relief as the Court deems just or proper. 

Dated:  October 4, 2007 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

s/Nancy J. Gegenheimer 
Nancy J. Gegenheimer 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
Securities and Exchange Commission 
1801 California Street, Suite 1500 
Denver, CO  80202 
(303) 844-1000 
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